
THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

DISTRICT OF KANSAS 

 

 

Z’IONTAE WOMACK,  

 

  Plaintiff, 

v. 

 

UNIFIED GOVERNMENT OF 

WYANDOTTE COUNTY/KANSAS CITY, 

KANSAS  

 

 

                    Defendant. 

 

 

 

 

     Case No. 2:19-cv-2446-KHV-TJJ 

 

 

      

   

FIRST AMENDED COMPLAINT 

 

 Plaintiff Z’Iontae Womack states her causes of action against Defendant The Unified 

Government of Wyandotte County/Kansas City, Kansas, acting as the Kansas City, Kansas 

Police Department (“KCKPD”) as follows: 

1. Plaintiff, an African American woman, brings this action against her employer, 

KCKPD, for employment discrimination. Plaintiff asserts claims for race discrimination, gender 

discrimination, hostile work environment based on race and gender, and retaliation.  

2. Plaintiff asserts her claims under Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and 42 

U.S.C. §§ 1981 and 1983. 

3. This is not the first time the Kansas City, Kansas Police Department  has been 

sued for race and gender discrimination, but the Police Department has been slow to eliminate 

rampant racism and sexism in the workplace. 

4. Plaintiff, like other plaintiffs before her, asserts claims arising from disparate 

treatment compared to the Department’s treatment of white and male employees. 
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5. As more fully set for the below, Defendant has disciplined Plaintiff for infractions 

that white and male officers were not disciplined for, treated Plaintiff poorly at work because of 

her status as a mother, permitted and promoted a hostile work environment, and retaliated against 

Plaintiff for opposing discrimination. 

                                                  JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

6. This Court has jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. § 1343, which 

provides for original jurisdiction in this Court for suits brought under Title VII of the Civil 

Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq., 42 U.S.C. § 1981, and 42 U.S.C. § 1983; by 28 

U.S.C. § 1331, which provides original jurisdiction in this Court for suits arising under federal 

law; and with respect to Title VII, by 42 U.S. C. § 2000e-5(f)(3). 

7. Plaintiff’s action for damages is authorized by: 

•  42 U.S.C. § 2000e et seq., which provides for redress, including actual and 

punitive damages and recovery of attorneys’ fees, when an individual has suffered 

discrimination in employment based on racial harassment and retaliatory 

discharge. This Court has jurisdiction over Plaintiff’s claim because Plaintiff filed 

two timely Charges of Discrimination with the Equal Employment Opportunity 

Commission and received Right-to-Sue letters mailed on May 22, 2008 and May 

29, 2008, respectively. 

•  42 U.S.C. § 1981, which provides for redress when an individual’s right to 

make or enforce a contract is interfered with because of racial discrimination or 

unlawful retaliation;  
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•  42 U.S.C. § 1983, which provides remedies for individuals against persons 

who, acting under color of state law, violate rights secured by federal statutory or 

constitutional law. 

•  42 U.S.C. § 1988, which authorizes Plaintiff’s application for attorneys’ fees 

and provides that a Court may award a reasonable attorneys’ fee as part of costs in 

any action or proceeding under 42 U.S.C. § 1981 and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

8. Venue is proper in the United States District Court for the District of Kansas 

under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b)(2), because the events giving rise to Plaintiff’s claims occurred in this 

District. 

PARTIES 

9. Plaintiff Z’Iontae Womack is now, and was at all times relevant to this lawsuit a 

resident of Kansas City, Kansas and a citizen of the State of Kansas.  

10. Defendant Unified Government of Wyandotte County/Kansas City, Kansas, is a 

Kansas governmental entity. The actions identified in this action pertain to the Kansas City 

Police Department, an agency of the Unified Government, and Defendant is therefore referred to 

in this First Amended Complaint as “KCKPD.” Defendant conducts business and operations in 

Kansas City, Kansas and is an employer within the meaning of Title VII.  

ADMINISTRATIVE PROCEEDINGS 

11. On or about April 2, 2018, Ms. Womack filed a timely charge of discrimination 

against KCKPD with the Kansas Human Rights Commission (“KHRC”). The charge was then 

dual filed with the Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (“EEOC”). A copy of Ms. 

Womack’s charge is attached as Exhibit A.  
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12. On or about May 6, 2019, the EEOC mailed a notice of right to sue Ms. Womack, 

and she received it thereafter. A copy of the Right to Sue Notice is attached as Exhibit B.  

13. Plaintiff filed this action pro se on August 2, 2019, within 90 days of her receipt 

of the right-to-sue notice of from the EEOC.  

14. Ms. Womack has fully complied with all administrative prerequisites before filing 

this action. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

15. Plaintiff been employed as a police officer with KCKPD since approximately July 

2007.  

16. During Plaintiff’s tenure, the Department has been led by several Chiefs of Police. 

The working atmosphere and culture in KCKPD is largely influenced by the Chief.  

17. Throughout most of Plaintiff’s tenure as a police officer in Kansas City, Kansas, 

race and gender discrimination have been rampant in the Department, although, notably, not 

during the approximately one-year period when Ellen Hanson served as Chief.  

18. In approximately December 2014, Terry Ziegler replaced Ms. Hanson as Chief, 

and he served as Chief of Police until September 2019, when he retired. 

19. Throughout his tenure as Chief, Mr. Ziegler fostered an atmosphere of race and 

gender discrimination within the Department. 

20. The Police Department employs more than 300 officers, more than 80 percent of 

whom are white.  

21. Approximately four officers are African American Women. 
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22. Defendant has a pattern and practice of disciplining African American officers for 

various infractions, while white officers are not disciplined for the same or more serious 

infractions.  

23. Infractions white officers have committed without any discipline being imposed 

include working outside jobs, leaving work early, reporting false time entries, sexting, and filing 

false reports. 

24. In addition, where white officers have been disciplined for certain infractions, the 

Department has made a practice of disciplining African American officers more severely than 

white officers for the same infractions. 

25. The Department investigates infractions allegedly committed by African 

American officers far more intensely than infractions allegedly committed by white officers. 

26. The Department has also failed to take claims of sexual harassment seriously, and 

has left alleged harassers in positions where they could repeat their harassment. 

27. Defendant has likewise disciplined Plaintiff for actions white males have not been 

disciplined for. For example, Plaintiff has been called out for driving a car (registered to her 

mother) that does not have Wyandotte County tags, a requirement for officers. Numerous white 

officers have vehicles not tagged in Wyandotte County, but are not disciplined. 

28. Plaintiff has also been disciplined for sleeping on the job. Plaintiff slept in her car 

when she was ill (and her partner was awake), because she was not allowed sufficient sick time. 

29. Sleeping on the job is a common occurrence among officers.  

30. Although the vast majority of officers sleep on the job at one time or another, the 

Department has recently reclassified sleeping on the job from a minor violation to a major 

violation. 
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31. When Plaintiff took video of a sergeant sleeping on the job and turned the video 

in, the sergeant was not disciplined, and Plaintiff was then informed that pictures and video 

should not be taken on the job, because they breed mistrust. The sergeant who had been sleeping 

was later promoted. 

32. Upon information and belief, only Plaintiff and one other person, an African 

American male, have been disciplined for sleeping on the job in recent years.  

33. When Plaintiff was nursing a child, she needed to pump breast milk twice during 

a shift. Although Plaintiff’s home was adjacent to the station where she was based, she was not 

permitted to pump at home because it would require her to leave her work area. Instead, 

Plaintiff’s supervisors suggested that Plaintiff bring her baby to work, even though Plaintiff 

worked nights. 

34. In one instance in 2017, Plaintiff and her partner were chased in their police 

vehicle by another officer. On information and belief, the chasing officer had been drinking and 

later stated that he was just playing a game. Plaintiff and her partner were terrified, however, as 

they tried to escape the chasing officer. 

35. Plaintiff was then cited for speeding and running a red light during the chase, and 

she was given a one-day suspension. Her white partner was not disciplined. 

36. Plaintiff filed a grievance with the Department about her suspension, and the 

Department responded by increasing her suspension to three days: one for speeding, one for 

running a red light, and one for reporting the incident to the Human Resources Department. 

37. Although the Unified Government’s HR manual provides for reporting workplace 

incidents to HR, the Police Department forbids reports to HR if the report is about a commander. 
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38. Plaintiff has training and ability in handling canines, and hoped to transfer to the 

canine unit, but During Chief Ziegler’s tenure, the Department eliminated its canine unit. 

39. In March 2018, Plaintiff requested to be involved in training for sergeants, since 

Plaintiff sometime serves as acting sergeant. Plaintiff was denied the opportunity to participate in 

the training. 

40. Although Plaintiff has been eligible for and qualified for promotion, she has not 

been promoted. 

41. In the largely white KCKPD, racial comments and jokes are common, with little 

or no discipline being imposed. 

42. The racial comments, jokes, disparate investigation, and disparate discipline 

create a hostile work environment are both severe and pervasive, and they negatively affects the 

terms and conditions of Plaintiff’s employment. 

43. The racial comments, jokes, disparate investigation, and disparate discipline are 

part of a continuous pattern that has existed throughout Plaintiff’s tenure with the Department, 

and in particular during the period when Terry Ziegler was Chief of Police. 

44. Because of Defendant’s actions, Plaintiff has suffered stress and illness and has 

been forced to take time off work. 

Count I 

Race Discrimination 

45. Plaintiff is an African American female.  

46. As shown above, Defendant consistently engaged in racially disparate practices 

concerning employee discipline, holding African American officers to higher, more exacting 

standards than white officers. 
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47. As shown by the foregoing, Plaintiff suffered intentional discrimination at the 

hands of Defendant and Defendant’s agents during her employment with Defendant, based on 

her race in violation of Section 703(a) if Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 

2000e-2(a) , and in violation of 42 U.S.C. §1981 and 42 U.S.C. § 1983. 

48. Defendant’s disparate discipline is a consistent pattern and practice, dependent in 

large part on the working atmosphere fostered by the Chief of Police. 

49. As described above, Defendant has caused harm through its policies and customs, 

including by persons (such as the Chief of Police) who may fairly be said to represent official 

policy. 

50. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s actions and/or inaction, Plaintiff 

has been deprived of income and other monetary and non-monetary benefits.  

51. As a further direct and proximate result of Defendant’s actions and/or inaction, 

Plaintiff has suffered humiliation, emotional pain, distress, suffering, inconvenience, mental 

anguish, and related compensatory damages. 

52. Plaintiff is entitled to recover from Defendant reasonable attorneys’ fees, as 

provided in Section 706(k) of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(k) and in 42 U.S.C. § 1988. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff asks that the Court enter judgment in her favor on Count I, 

finding that she has been subjected to unlawful discrimination; for an award of lost compensation 

and benefits, including interest; for an award of compensatory damages under Title VII and 

Section 1981/1983 in a reasonable amount to be determined by the jury; for her costs expended; 

for her reasonable attorneys’ and expert’s fees; and for such other relief as this Court deems just 

and proper. 
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Count II 

Gender Discrimination 

 

53. Ms. Womack is female.  

54. As shown above, Defendant consistently engaged in disparate practices 

concerning employee discipline, holding women officers to higher, more exacting standards than 

men. 

55. As shown by the foregoing, Plaintiff suffered intentional discrimination at the 

hands of Defendant and Defendant’s agents during her employment with Defendant, based on 

her gender in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e. 

56. Defendant’s disparate discipline is a consistent pattern and practice, dependent in 

large part on the working atmosphere fostered by the Chief of Police. 

57. As described above, Defendant has caused harm through its policies and customs, 

including by persons (such as the Chief of Police) who may fairly be said to represent official 

policy. 

58. As a direct and proximate result of Defendant’s actions and/or inaction, Plaintiff 

has been deprived of income and other monetary and non-monetary benefits.  

59. As a further direct and proximate result of Defendant’s actions and/or inaction, 

Plaintiff has suffered humiliation, emotional pain, distress, suffering, inconvenience, mental 

anguish, and related compensatory damages. 

60. Plaintiff is entitled to recover from Defendant reasonable attorneys’ fees, as 

provided in Section 706(k) of Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-5(k). 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff asks that the Court enter judgment in her favor on Count II, 

finding that she has been subjected to unlawful discrimination; for an award of lost compensation 

and benefits, including interest; for an award of compensatory damages under Title VII in a 
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reasonable amount to be determined by the jury; for her costs expended; for her reasonable 

attorneys’ and expert’s fees; and for such other relief as this Court deems just and proper. 

Count III 

Hostile Work Environment 

 

61. As shown above, Defendant has fostered and allowed a working environment that 

has included racial comments and jokes, as well as disparate treatment based on race and gender. 

 62. During her tenure with Defendants, Plaintiff was repeatedly subjected to 

unwelcome racial harassment and disparate treatment because she is an African American 

woman. 

 63. The above-described incidents are severe and pervasive such that they altered the 

terms and conditions of Plaintiff’s employment. Defendant’s unwelcome conduct also had the 

purpose or effect of unreasonably interfering with Plaintiff’s work performance and/or creating 

an intimidating, hostile or offensive work environment. 

 64. The hostile and offensive working environment described above was directly 

fostered and promoted by the Chief of Policy, Terry Ziegler. 

65. Defendants’ unlawful employment practices detailed above constitute a violation 

of Plaintiff’s rights under Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a) and under 42 U.S.C. §§1981, 1983. 

 66.  Plaintiff suffered economic injury, emotional and physical distress, 

embarrassment, and humiliation as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful 

conduct detailed above. 

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff asks that the Court enter judgment in her favor on Count III, 

finding that she has been subjected to unlawful discrimination; for an award of lost compensation 

and benefits, including interest; for an award of compensatory damages under Title VII and 

Section 1981/1983 in a reasonable amount to be determined by the jury; for her costs expended; 
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for her reasonable attorneys’ and expert’s fees; and for such other relief as this Court deems just 

and proper. 

Count IV 

Retaliation 

 67. As described above, Plaintiff complained about disparate racial treatment, 

including by reporting examples of it to her supervisors and grieving her own racially disparate 

discipline, and filing a charge with KHRC and the EEOC.  

68. Plaintiff’s opposition to racial discrimination and harassment constituted 

protected activities under Title VII, 42 U.S.C. § 2000e-3(a), and under 42 U.S.C. §§1981, 1983.  

 69. Plaintiff’s methods of opposing the unlawful discrimination were reasonable and 

unambiguous.  

 70. As described above, after Plaintiff opposed racial discrimination and harassment, 

Defendant subjected Plaintiff to heightened scrutiny and increased discipline. 

 71. Defendant’s conduct violated Plaintiff’s rights under Title VII, 42 U.S.C. sec. 

2000e-3(a), and under 42 U.S.C. §§ 1981 and 1983. 

 72.  Plaintiff suffered economic injury, emotional and physical distress, 

embarrassment, and humiliation as a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ unlawful 

conduct detailed above.  

 WHEREFORE, Plaintiff asks that the Court enter judgment in her favor on Count IV, 

finding that she has been subjected to unlawful retaliation; for an award of lost compensation and 

benefits, including interest; for an award of compensatory damages under Title VII and Section 

1981/1983 in a reasonable amount to be determined by the jury; for her costs expended; for her 

reasonable attorneys’ and expert’s fees; and for such other relief as this Court deems just and 

proper. 
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DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

 Plaintiff Z’Iontae Womack requests a trial by jury on all claims in her complaint that may 

properly be submitted to a jury. 

DESIGNATION OF PLACE OF TRIAL 

 Plaintiff designates Kansas City, Kansas as the place of trial of this matter. 

Respectfully submitted,  

 

DUGAN SCHLOZMAN LLC 

 

 

  /s/ Mark V. Dugan  

Heather J. Schlozman, MO Bar # 43234 

Mark V. Dugan, MO Bar # 39639 

heather@duganschlozman.com 

mark@duganschlozman.com 

8826 Santa Fe Drive, Suite 307 

Overland Park, Kansas 66212 

Telephone: (913) 322-3528 

Facsimile: (913) 904-0213 

 

Counsel for Plaintiff 
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